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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 
 
 

UNITED COALITION OF REASON INC.,                             PLAINTIFF 
a Delaware corporation,     
        
v.         No. ______________  
      
PORT AUTHORITY OF ALLEGHENY COUNTY,           DEFENDANT 
a Pennsylvania public corporation                 
  
       

COMPLAINT 
 
 

 United Coalition of Reason Inc. (the “Plaintiff”), as its complaint against Port 

Authority of Allegheny County (the “Authority” and the “Defendant”), alleges as 

follows: 

 

NATURE OF THE CLAIMS 

1. The Plaintiff seeks injunctive and declaratory relief under 42 U.S.C. 

§1983 against Defendant for refusing to contract with Plaintiff to lease advertising space 

to Plaintiff on the Authority’s buses due to the viewpoint expressed in the proposed 

advertisements in violation of the Free Speech Clause of the First Amendment to the 

United States Constitution. 

 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. This case arises under the First Amendment to the Constitution of the 

United States and presents a federal question within this court’s jurisdiction pursuant to 

28 U.S.C. §§1331 and 1343(a)(3).  The court has the authority to issue a declaratory 
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judgment under 28 U.S.C. §2201 and to issue injunctive relief under 28 U.S.C. §1343 and 

Fed. R. Civil P. 65. 

3. Venue is proper in this judicial district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§1391(b) 

and 1391(d) because the Defendant resides within the Western District of Pennsylvania 

and the events giving rise to the Plaintiff’s claims occurred therein. 

 

PARTIES 

4. The Plaintiff is a Delaware nonprofit corporation, the principal office of 

which is located at 1777 T Street, N.W., Washington, D.C.  20009. 

5. The Plaintiff is a national organization whose mission is to help local 

nontheistic groups work together to achieve higher visibility, gain more members, and 

have a greater impact in their local areas.  One of the Plaintiff’s primary methods of 

carrying out this mission is through sponsoring prominent local public advertising 

campaigns. 

6. The Authority is a public corporation, resident within the Western District 

of Pennsylvania, created and operated pursuant to 55 Pa.C.S.A. §551 et seq.  Pursuant to 

this statute, the Authority is a “corporate and politic” entity “which shall exercise the 

public powers of the Commonwealth [of Pennsylvania] as an agency thereof.” 

7. The Authority provides mass transit bus service to the public in the 

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania metropolitan area. 
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STATEMENT OF FACTS 

 

8. The facts alleged as to the parties stated above are incorporated herein by 

reference. 

9. On or about November 9, 2011, Plaintiff entered into negotiations with 

Authority’s Assistant General Manager of Legal & Corporate Services and General 

Counsel, Michael Cetra, regarding the lease of advertising space on the Authority’s buses 

to the Plaintiff in order to permit the Plaintiff to run an advertisement in such space.  The 

Plaintiff’s proposed advertisement (the “Proposed Advertisement”) consisted of a 

background of blue sky and white clouds with the following text:  “Don’t believe in God?  

You are not alone,” and the website address of a local group affiliated with the Plaintiff. 

10. Plaintiff’s Proposed Advertisement was to have begun running on 

Defendant’s buses on December 12, 2011. 

11. In an e-mail from Michael Cetra to Shaun Barbeau of Media Brokers 

International, Inc., Plaintiff’s media broker, dated December 6, 2011 (the “Refusal 

Decision”), Defendant announced that it would not run the Proposed Advertisement.  The 

e-mail stated, in pertinent part:  “that Port Authority of Allegheny County cannot run the 

United Coalition of Reason’s proposed ‘You are not alone’ advertisements on our 

vehicles at this time because it is prohibited by Port Authority’s existing Advertising 

Policy.” 

12. Defendant attached to the Refusal Decision a copy of the Port Authority 

Advertising Policy which went into effect on March 27, 1998 (the “Advertising Policy”), 

and which the Refusal Decision refers to as “Port Authority’s current, Board-adopted 
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Advertising Policy.”  A copy of the Advertising Policy, which was the Authority’s stated 

policy in effect at the time of the Refusal Decision, is attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

13. Defendant’s Refusal Decision drew attention specifically to the 

Advertising Policy’s ban on “non-commercial” advertisements, and stated that Plaintiff’s 

“proposed advertisement is clearly non-commercial in nature.” 

14. The Authority has previously permitted, and continues to permit, in 

addition to purely commercial advertisements, advertisements (the “Similar Permitted 

Advertisements”) from non-commercial advertisers, including, but not limited to, 

religious advertisers, hospitals soliciting volunteers for medical studies, and public issue 

groups to appear on its buses.  Copies of the Similar Permitted Advertisements are 

attached as Exhibits B1 through B10 hereto. 

15. The Plaintiff’s attorney sent a letter to Defendant dated September 7, 2013, 

stating that the Plaintiff intended to file this complaint if the Defendants refused to enter 

into a contract with the Plaintiff to run the Proposed Advertisement as soon as possible 

on the same standard pricing and terms offered by the Defendant to every other advertiser. 

 

CAUSES OF ACTION 

16. All preceding allegations are incorporated herein by reference. 

17. The Defendant’s refusal to contract with the Plaintiff to lease advertising 

space for Plaintiff’s Proposed Advertisement on the Authority’s buses because of the 

viewpoint of the Proposed Advertisement violated the Plaintiff’s rights under the Free 

Speech Clause of the First Amendment to the United States Constitution. 
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18. The Authority, a public corporation of the Commonwealth of 

Pennsylvania, acted under color of state law in violating the Plaintiff’s First Amendment 

rights as described herein. 

 

RELIEF SOUGHT 

The Plaintiff demands that this court grant the following relief: 

1. Declare that the Defendant’s actions alleged herein violate the Free 

Speech Clause of the First Amendment to the United States Constitution; 

2. Declare that the Defendant’s actions alleged herein violate 42 U.S.C. 

§1983; 

3. Permanently enjoin the Defendant from violating the First Amendment to 

the United States Constitution and 42 U.S.C. §1983 in its dealings with Plaintiff and 

order the Defendant to enter into a contract with the Plaintiff to permit the Plaintiff to 

lease advertising space on the Authority’s buses to display the Proposed Advertisement.  

4. Award the Plaintiff its reasonable costs, disbursements and attorneys fees 

as allowed by law from Defendants pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1988; and 

5. Award such other and further relief as the court shall deem just. 

 

Dated this __26__ day of November, 2013. 

 

s/Charles Pierson__________________________ 

Charles Pierson 
Attorney at Law 
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Attorneys for the Plaintiff 

Charles Pierson 
1135 N. Negley Avenue  #4 
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania  15206-1545 
Telephone:  (412) 365-0519 
E-mail:  Chapierson@yahoo.com 
PA203623 
 
William Burgess 
Appignani Humanist Legal Center 
American Humanist Association  
1777 T Street, N.W. 
Washington, D.C.  20009 
Telephone:  (202) 238-9088 
Fax:  (202) 238-9003 
E-Mail:  bburgess@americanhumanist.org 
(pro hac vice motion pending) 
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